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STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

INTRODUCTION

CentralNic Ltd (“CentralNic”) is one of the world’s leaders in the domain name industry, continuously developing 
to meet the market’s evolving challenges and opportunities. CentralNic comprises two profitable and growing 
operating divisions each with its own proprietary technology platform. The Registry Division powers domain 
names and sells them through an integrated network of retailers; whilst the Registry and Corporate Division sells 
domain names, consultancy services and licenses software to corporations.

CentralNic’s goals include growing the volume of transactions over CentralNic’s platform and bringing 
companies and individuals all over the world the tools to have their own online presence.

The business operates globally, with customers in over 60 countries. It is headquartered in London, and in 
September 2013 the CentralNic Group (“the Group”) successfully completed its admission to the AIM market of 
the London Stock Exchange (“AIM”). 

Market and Strategy
CentralNic’s Registry Division powers specific domain names and is also their exclusive distributor through 
retailers globally. The DNS system which powers the domains is a global network of nameservers, with 50 
locations geographically distributed around the world. CentralNic’s DNS assures the stability, security and 
resilience of the domain names supported by CentralNic. During 2018 this system maintained its unblemished 
record of 100% uptime for the 23rd consecutive year.

CentralNic is the only Company among its peers to offer comprehensive and quality services to all its defined 
customer groups – Resellers and Corporates. For each of those customer types, CentralNic has developed and 
operates a highly automated software platform. The aim is to maintain the organic growth strategy by continuing 
to win and retain new and existing clients respectively as well as extending the business through the introduction 
of the subscription services to those customers. 

The economic drivers of the business remain strong in 2018. Whilst micro-businesses are catered for in some 
countries by platforms like Facebook, Amazon, WhatsApp and WeChat, small businesses and corporations 
continue to rely on domain names as the foundations for their websites, emails and online brand protection 
strategies. 

Further to this, the five-year period of disruption from 2013 to 2018 when the market was flooded with low-cost 
domain names, is now behind us, with adoption of these domain names only accounting for less than 10% of 
the market. CentralNic’s most popular domains such as .com, .net and .uk continue to show robust growth both 
in volumes and pricing.

Supplying domains to resellers became CentralNic’s largest business in 2018. It provides the long tail of country 
code and new TLD domain inventory to 5,000 resellers including virtually all the world’s leading domain name 
retailers, which in turn resell the domains to their customers. CentralNic has retained its leading position for the 
past five years, as a distributor of new TLDs. Additional growth in 2018 was provided by new reseller wins and 
exclusive registry backend contracts, notably with .icu and .ooo, which both ranked in the top 20 new TLDs by 
volume.

CentralNic’s corporate customer segment services large corporations that view domain names as a form of 
intellectual property similar to trademarks, secured and protected by brand owners. CentralNic operated a 
business within the corporate segment trading in high priced premium domain names. In 2018, the strategic 
focus shifted from premium domain sales, CentralNic replaced a business based on one-off transactions with a 
recurring revenue business with comparable revenues, while providing the highest renewal rates, margins and 
growth rates.

The objective is to maintain the revenue growth and healthy margins across all the segments.
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CentralNic’s exclusive Registry inventory 
Every Top-Level Domain extension, such as .com, .org and .co.uk has an exclusive registry (known in the 
domain name industry as a “registry backend”). CentralNic’s platform supports all five categories of domain 
name extensions: Country Code Domain extensions such as .la, .cx and .fm; Second-Level Domain extensions 
such as .uk.com and .us.com; Generic Top-Level Domain extensions like .top, .xyz, and .online; “sponsored” 
domains for a specific purpose such as .coop, the internet designation for cooperatives; and finally “DotBrand” 
Top-Level Domains such as .stc for Saudi Telecom Corporation, which uses CentralNic’s wholesale platform to 
power domains not for sale but for the rights holder’s own use.  
 
Domain names are registered by end users for various reasons: not only to build a website on, but for email, to 
protect their brand or business name, to capture traffic, and for investment. In the most sophisticated markets, 
even small companies and individuals often own portfolios of domain names. 
 
Registry and Corporate Division 
The registry and corporate market are gaining importance in the domain name industry, and CentralNic is 
addressing this market in several ways. 
 
DotBrands 
CentralNic provides technical services to companies seeking their own “DotBrand” TLDs.  These are a newly 
introduced type of Intellectual Property (“IP”) which allows brands and company names to occupy the Top-Level 
of domain names previously restricted to country codes and generic terms like .com. As this new form of IP can 
be operated by a company, exclusively, globally and ongoing it has attracted significant interest in the corporate 
sector. DotBrand clients which use CentralNic’s technical and consulting services include Global 1000 
companies such as Saudi Telecom Company, Etisalat and Kuwait Finance House. 
 
Software 
CentralNic acquired a high quality domain management software product, DomiNIC in 2013, and the Company 
that supports the software, dnsXperts, in 2015. DomiNIC is a workflow management software for the registration 
and management of domain names, which can be used as an in-house tool by registry and corporate clients, or 
as technology enabling corporations with large SME customer bases to monetise those customers by selling 
them domain names. Some of the largest corporations in the German-speaking markets use DomiNIC, and 
CentralNic has started introducing it to other markets. 
 
CentralNic also offers licenses to its registry software as a component of its o ering to corporations launching 
DotBrand Top-Level Domains. 
 
Domain Names 
Like many of its peers, CentralNic has a revenue stream from the sale of premium domain names.  These are 
particularly favoured by large companies for a number of uses. They may correspond to a company brand name, 
they may be easily memorable and marketable (like a two-letter .com domain or a common word), and they may 
already benefit from internet traffic comprising potential customers. CentralNic trades in its own portfolio, with 
approximately 37,500 premium domain names (with values ranging from a small premium over normal retail 
pricing to seven figure sums).  It also brokers premium domain sales for third parties in exchange for a 
commission. 
 
CentralNic is also a shareholder in and distributor of the .tickets TLD.  This innovative new use of a top-level 
domain is intended to allow venues, artists, sports teams and other rights holders to retail tickets direct to 
consumers, while giving consumers the comfort of knowing that any website using a .tickets domain is legitimate. 
 
BUSINESS REVIEW 
 
The dynamics of CentralNic’s business continue to be quite specific, notably with recurring earnings and a 
proven ability to grow rapidly.  
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1. Key Performance Indicators 2018:

• Revenue: £3,163,653 (2017: £8,084,724 )
• Loss after taxation: £3,390,729 (2017: profit after taxation of £3,241,589)
• Cash balance as at 31 December 2018: £2,862,512 (2017: £5,031,391)

Reseller segment
The Reseller segment decreased by 39% from £3,813,488 to £2,339,472, mainly due to KM TLM migration sale 
amounting to £202,000 and a significant reduction of TLDs amounting to £1,474,000 in the rest of the world.
The adjusted gross margins for Registry and Corporate were 91% and 28% respectively.

Corporate segment
Revenue in the Corporate segment for the financial year ended 31 December 2018 was £824,181, a decrease 
of 81% from 2017 mainly due to a decrease of £2,640,000 in the sale of SLD, £347,000 in the sale of domains 
of .com and £53,000 of DNS charges.

The new segments are constructed around customer types, namely Resellers and Corporates and each having
distinct needs that are served by CentralNic’s proprietary SaaS platform. For each segment, revenue and gross 
profit contributions to the total operating expenditure platform are determined. The reseller segment includes the 
former Wholesale division and the Corporate segment absorbs the former Enterprise division.

2. Cash precedes revenues
Across the Registry Division, CentralNic often receives payments prior to recognising revenues and this can be
for domain registration terms of up to 10 years.

3. Recurring revenues
Selling domain names is an annuity revenue business. Domain owners are required to make renewal payments
typically on an annual basis. This means that a portion of CentralNic’s revenues do not result from the current
year’s activities or market conditions, but from customers paying an annual fee (or multiples of an annual fee for
multi-year registrations) to retain their existing website or domain name – a reliable and predictable earnings
stream. New domain registrations demonstrate similar characteristics in terms of payment in advance by both
existing and new customers.

4. Diversity of revenue sources
CentralNic’s revenue in its Registry Division is comprised of millions of small value transactions, so individual
customer retention risk is relatively low in this context. Exceptions are the high value transactions that would
typically be included in the Corporate Division such as sales of premium domain names and the non-recurring
elements of licensing contracts.

5. Scalable business with largely fixed costs
CentralNic’s business is scalable through automation as the core technical development work on the Group’s
platforms was completed years ago, and the ongoing development and operational costs are largely fixed.

6. Distribution
CentralNic’s global distribution channel is a significant asset, as one of the world’s most extensive and well-
established global distribution networks for domain names. Over 1,500 retailers are integrated directly with
CentralNic’s databases.  This includes the world’s largest and most recognised domain name retailers, such
as Go Daddy and Alibaba’s Hi-China. These in turn enable CentralNic to access over 100,000 resellers,
worldwide.

While take up was initially slow, an increasing number of registrars have now been accredited by the industry 
regulator ICANN to sell domain names using new gTLDs. CentralNic and its clients have secured more registrars 
actively selling domains using their TLDs than any other wholesaler.  At the time of writing, .XYZ, is actively 
sold via 183 accredited registrars, about 19% more than the TLD with the next highest number of active registrars 
with any CentralNic competitor, according to industry statistics website ntldstats.com.

7. Premium domain name portfolio
CentralNic owns and trades from its own portfolio of around 37,500 premium domain names, and has also been
contracted to broker additional domain names on behalf of third parties. Values of these premium domains range
from slightly higher than standard retail prices up to seven figure sums.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The directors have considered the principle risks and uncertainties facing the Company, the main ones being 
outlined below.

• Regulatory

Registry businesses are subject to the legal and contractual environment. These are subject to change, not least 
in the ICANN community, and changes have the potential to influence business outcomes. 

CentralNic satisfies ICANN technical and operational requirements, and maintains an active voice in the 
development of policy within the ICANN community.

• Market risk

There is a risk that the market for domains owned by the Company or for which the Company provides reseller
services may not be as large as expected or the new TLDs may not generate the revenue levels anticipated by 
the Board. In either case the Company’s revenues could reduce below expectations with an impact on 
profitability.

The risk is mitigated to a degree by operating a broad portfolio of existing and new top level domains across 
multiple market segments.

• IT security

If the Company does not prevent security breaches or becomes susceptible to cyber-attacks, it may be exposed
to lawsuits, lose customers, suffer harm to its reputation, and incur additional costs. Unauthorised access, 
computer viruses, accidents, employee error or malfeasance, intentional misconduct by computer “hackers”, 
and other disruptions can occur that could compromise the security of the Company’s infrastructure or 
confidential information.

The Company has created a resilient network infrastructure and Domain Name System server constellation, 
with failover secondary systems to ensure critical re functions are maintained. The registry business has been 
certified under ISO 27001/2013 for data security, thereby mitigating risk by adherence to international best 
practice.

• Dependence on key personnel

The Company has a small management team and the loss of any key individual or the inability to attract 
appropriate personnel could impact upon the Company’s future performance. Incentives and a performance 
culture remain an important focus to the achievement of the Company’s objectives.

• Supplier risk

A number of the key technical services used by the Group are outsourced to key suppliers, thereby creating the 
potential for risk in the case of the failure or loss of a supplier.

In view of these risks, redundancies have been introduced between the suppliers and internal resources, 
ensuring that no single point of failure could result in the inability of CentralNic to meet its contractual or 
compliance obligations.

• Currency risk

The Company reports its revenues and costs in British Pounds Sterling, whilst some of these revenues and 
costs may arise in currencies other than this. Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely a ect the Group’s 
reported profits, and make its overseas contracts relatively less valuable.
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• Deposit risk

Deposit risk is mitigated by the directors setting policy that the Company only places deposits with banks and 
financial institutions with high credit ratings.

• Credit risk

The Company’s exposure to credit risk from trade receivables is relatively low, due to the fact that the business 
has traditionally dealt with customers who often pay at the point or sale or in advance. Where there are credit 
accounts, which is an increasing trend in the industry particularly for the larger domain name registrars, 
receivables are controlled through credit limits and regular monitoring.

• Impact on society

The Group has a positive impact on society by offering internet services in developing countries, contributing to 
the United Nations Broadband Commission’s objective of connecting the 50% of the world that is still offline with 
affordable internet. The Company can see little negative impact on society from its activities. Whilst the internet 
itself adds a potential avenue through which fraudsters and other undesirables can operate, the Company has 
stringent policies relating to its position as an enabler of such traffic and at all times adheres to laws and 
regulations in each and every jurisdiction, including working with regulatory authorities.

• Foreign currency risk

CentralNic contracts are usually denominated in British Pounds Sterling, US Dollars or Euros and the directors 
keep the currency exposure under regular review. The Directors consider the use of hedging instruments in the 
event that currency exposure is considered a material performance risk.

• Other risk factors

The Directors give due consideration to other risk factors as they arise. Particular attention is attributed to the 
United Kingdom invocation of Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union, commonly referred to as “Brexit”, as 
well as additional regulatory requirements impacting the business in the domain industry, by national or 
supranational lawmakers, or regulatory bodies such as ICANN or the London Stock Exchange. In addition to the 
impact of the downturn of the world’s economies, the Company may be adversely affected by other changes in 
economic, political, judicial, administrative, taxation or other regulatory or unforeseen matters.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

Trading for the first half of 2019 is encouraging and in line with expectations. CentralNic has continued to win 
new clients including the distribution contract for .blog TLD, owned by Automattic, the company behind 
Wordpress, .BH, the ccTLD for Bahrain and a consultancy agreement with the Malaysian ccTLD owner, .MY.

CentralNic now manages portfolios in excess of 1 million domain names for three TLDs and is the clear market 
leader for providing services to new gTLD clients with over 8 million names under management and a 30%+ 
market share. In the past twelve months, two of the fastest growing TLDs have been .OOO and .ICU, both under
CentralNic's management. The renewal rates we have experienced in 2018 for .xyz and our other high volume 
TLDs are in line with our expectations.

Additionally, the industry regulator ICANN continues its review of the new TLD programme as a first step towards 
opening future rounds of applications – meaning potential future opportunities for CentralNic.

CentralNic continues to prove its ability to identify and exploit growth opportunities in the domain name industry, 
by winning clients, launching new products and services and successfully acquiring and integrating other 
businesses. This dynamic and agile approach to a rapidly evolving market has driven CentralNic’s growth in 
2018, and we fully anticipate it will continue to serve the Company equally well in the future.

This report was approved by the board on 12th September 2019 and signed on its behalf.

Ben Crawford
Director
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic report, the Directors' report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). 

Under Company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

• state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

This principal activity of the Company during the year was that of the provision of independent global domain 
name services.

RESULTS

The loss for the year, after taxation, amounted to £3,390,729 (2017: profit of £3,241,589).

DIRECTORS

The directors who served during the year were:

Samuel Dayani
Ben Crawford
Raedene McGary
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

GOING CONCERN

The Company incurred a loss of £3,390,729 for the year ended 31 December 2018 and is in a net current assets 
position of £2,385,638 as at the date of this report.  The Company requires limited financing over the 
foreseeable future to cover its overheads expenditure mainly related to administrative expenses.  

The directors have procedures in place to review the forecasts and budgets on a regular basis, drawn up with 
appropriate regard for both the macroeconomic environment in which the Company operates and the particular 
circumstances influencing the Domain Name industry to ensure that the Company has sufficient resources to 
cover its existing and forthcoming expenditures. The forecasts and budgets were prepared with reference to 
historic and current industry knowledge, contracted trading activities and prospects that relate to the future 
strategy of the Company.

The directors evaluate that there will continue to be support across the group to which the Company is part of.

At the time of approving the financial statements and after making enquiries, the Directors have reasonable 
expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable 
future.  Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements. 

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR

Each of the persons who are directors at the time of approving the accounts is listed above.  Having made 
enquiries of fellow directors and of the auditors, each of the directors confirms that:

• To the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Company's auditor is unaware; and

• Each director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

AUDITOR

The auditor, Crowe U.K. LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 12th September 2019 and signed on its behalf.

Ben Crawford
Director



CENTRALNIC LIMITED 

Page 9

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of CentralNic Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of CentralNic Limited (the ‘Company’) for the year ended 31 December 
2018 which comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, Statement of financial position, Statement of 
changes in equity, Statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The 
Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its loss
for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the United Kingdom, including 
the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Annual Report, other than the financial statements and our Auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

• the information given in the Directors' report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

• the Directors' report ha been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small

companies regime and take advantage of the small companies exemption in preparing the Directors’
report and from the requirement to prepare a Strategic report.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement on page 7, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an uditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of
our Auditor’s report.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Nigel Bostock (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of  
Crowe U.K. LLP 

Statutory Auditor

St Bride s House
10 Salisbury Square 
London  
EC4Y 8EH 

12th September 2019 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017

Note £
**
£

5 3,163,653 8,084,724

(606,125) (480,742)

2,557,528 7,603,982

(6,213,150) (3,742,584)

6 (3,655,622) 3,861,398

8 353,407 117,842

8 (4,409) (1,735)

348,998 116,107

(3,306,624) 3,977,505

9 (84,105) (735,916)

(3,390,729) 3,241,589

Turnover 

Cost of sales 

Gross profit

Administrative expenses

Operating profit/(loss) 

Interest receivable and other finance income 

Interest payable and other finance costs

Net interest income 

Loss/profit on ordinary activities before taxation 

Tax on (loss)/ profit 

Total comprehensive ( oss)/ profit for the financial year

All amounts relate to continuing operations. 

There was no other comprehensive income for 2018 (2017: £Nil). 

** In 2017, the amount of £1,874,723 was reclassified from Cost of Sales to Administrative expenses primarily 
consisting of staff cost.

The notes on pages 17 to 34 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
  2018 2017 
  Note £ £ 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS    
Tangible assets 10 83,152 57,463 
Intangible assets 11 1,424,545 1,641,506 
Deferred tax assets 16 42,621 40,417 
Investments 12 347,828 1,345,182 

  1,898,146 3,084,568 
CURRENT ASSETS    
Inventories  2,891,365 166,486 
Debtors 13 22,596,229 16,566,014 
Cash at bank  2,862,512 5,031,391 
   28,350,106 21,763,891 
    

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 14 (25,964,468) (18,095,508) 
      
NET CURRENT ASSETS  2,385,638 3,668,383 
    
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  4,283,784 6,752,951 
    
CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than 
one year 15 (1,193,922) (280,307) 
    
PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES    
Deferred tax liability 16 (24,533) (40,668) 
    
NET ASSETS    3,065,329 6,431,976 

    
CAPITAL AND RESERVES    
Called up share capital 17 50,000 50,000 
Retained earnings  2,829,439 6,207,535 
Share based payment reserve 18 185,890 174,441 
    
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS 18 3,065,329 6,431,976 
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The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf 
on 12th September 2019. 
 

 
 
Ben Crawford 
Director 
 
Registered number: 04985780 
 
. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

 

Share 
capital 

Share 
Based 

Payments 
Reserve 

Retained 
Earnings Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
     

Balance as at 31 December 2016 50,000 147,950 2,965,946 3,163,896 

     
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 3,241,589 3,241,589 
     
Share based payments - 26,491 - 26,491 

     

Balance as at 31 December 2017 50,000 174,441 6,207,535 6,431,976 

     
Total comprehensive loss for the year - - (3,390,729) (3,390,729) 
Share based payments - 24,082 - 24,082 
Add back share options  (12,633) 12,633 - 

     

Balance as at 31 December 2018 50,000 185,890 2,829,439 3,065,329 

 
• Share capital represents the nominal value of the Company’s cumulative issued share capital.  
• Share based payments reserve represents the cumulative value of share based payments recognised 

through equity.  
• Retained earnings represent the cumulative value of the profits not distributed to shareholders, but 

retained to finance the future capital requirements of the Company. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
  2018 2017 
  £ £ 
Cash Flow from operating activities    
(Loss) / profit before taxation   (3,390,729)       3,241,589 
Adjustment:    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  60,793 67,512 
Amortisation of intangible assets  487,259 398,784 
Fair value movement of investment   997,364 35,522 
Elimination of deferred tax  (18,340) (16,884) 
Finance income   4,409 1,735 
Finance cost   (353,407) (117,842) 
Shared based payments  24,082 26,491 
Increase in trade and other receivables  (5,203,304) (5,109,692) 
Increase in trade and other payables and accruals  9,126,052 1,610,773 
(Decrease)/Increase in inventories  (2,724,879)           5,587 
Cash flow from Operations   (990,700) 143,575 
Income tax paid  (695,793) (594,080) 
Net cash flow generated from operating activities   (1,686,493) (450,505) 
    
Cash flow used in investing activities    
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (86,481) (39,457) 
Purchase of intangible assets   (270,303) (402,419) 
Disposal of Intangible assets  4 25,234 
Payment of deferred consideration  - - 
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired  (10) - 
Net cash flow used in investing activities  (356,790) (416,643) 
    
Cash flow used in financing activities    
Proceeds/(payments) from/to group undertaking  (474,594) 139,604 
Interest received  353,407 108,896 
Interest paid  (4,409) (1,735) 
Net cash flow generated from financing activities  (125,596) 246,765 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (2,168,879) (620,383) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year  5,031,391 5,651,773 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  2,862,512 5,031,390 
Bank borrowings (excluding prepaid costs)  - - 
Net (debt)/ cash excluding issue costs of debt  2,862,512 5,031,390 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 

1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

• Nature of Operations 
 

CentralNic Limited (“the Company”) is a UK trading company which is engaged in the provision of global 
domain name services. The Company is registered in England and Wales. Its registered office and principal 
place of business is 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, London, EC2V 6BR. 
 
CentralNic Limited provides reseller, corporate and strategic consultancy for new Top Level Domains 
(TLDs), Country Code TLD’s (ccTLDs) and Second-Level Domains (SLDs) and it is the owner and registrant 
of a portfolio of domain names, which it uses as domain extensions and for resale on the domain name 
aftermarket. 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 – The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland, and the Companies Act 2006. The principal accounting policies are 
described below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year. 
 
The directors are satisfied that the going concern basis is appropriate for the preparation of these financial 
statements as the Company has obtained a confirmation from its parent company that it will not seek to 
recover its balance to the extent it would prejudice the ability of the Company to meet its liabilities as they 
fall due.  
 
As the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of CentralNic Group PLC, the Company has taken advantage 
of the exemption contained in FRS102 and has therefore not disclosed the following: 
 
• Related Party Transactions; and 
• Financial Instruments. 

 
The financial statements contain information about CentralNic Limited as an individual company and do not 
contain consolidated financial information as the parent of the group. The Company has taken the option 
under Section 400 of the Companies Act 2006 not to prepare consolidated financial statements. The 
consolidated financial statements of CentralNic Group PLC, within which this Company is included, can be 
obtained from the registered office. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
 3.1 Turnover 

  

Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and 
represents amounts receivable for services provided in the course of ordinary activities, net of 
discounts and sales related taxes. 

Each segment evaluates the representation of the underlying customer contracts with the registrars 
and identifies the performance obligations that are required to be met under the customer contract.  
Determining the transaction price and allocating the transaction price to the performance obligation 
is also considered, followed by the fulfilment of the performance obligation, therefore leading to the 
revenue recognition of the sale. 

Revenue from the sale of services is recognised when the amounts of revenue and cost can be 
measured reliably.   

In particular: 

(i) Sale of Registry services for domain names to registrars 

For the Registry revenues and Registry operator channels, evaluation of the customer contract, 
the registry channel has several performance obligations that need to be met over the term of the 
domain name sale. An invoice under these divisions could cover the sale of a domain name for a 
fixed term period which could vary between one and ten years, and the performance obligations 
are expected to be fulfilled over the course of this term on a straight-line basis. Revenues that 
relate to the period in which the services are performed are recognised in the income statement 
of that period, with the amounts relating to future periods being deferred into ‘Deferred revenues’. 

  

(ii) Sale of Corporate Services 

Revenue from the provision of computer software to a customer is recognised when the Company 
has delivered the related software and completed all of the adaptions required by the customer for 
either the whole contract or for a specific milestone deliverable within the contract. The revenue is 
recognised at the point of fulfilment of the performance obligation, in line with the customer 
contract. 

(iii) Sales of consultancy and other services (‘’Consultancy’’)  

Revenue from strategic consultancy and similar services is recognised in profit and loss in 
proportion to the stage of completion of the performance obligation at the reporting date. The stage 
of performance obligation fulfilment is determined based on completion of work performed to date 
as a percentage of total services to be performed. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 
 3.2 Tangible fixed assets and depreciation  

  

 
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less depreciation.  Depreciation is provided at rates 
calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their expected 
useful lives as follows:  
 
Fixtures and Fittings - 20% reducing balance method 
Computer Equipment - 60% reducing balance method 
 
The depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, 
at the end of each reporting period to ensure that the amounts, method and periods of depreciation 
are consistent with previous estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset. 

   
       
 
 

 
3.3 Intangible fixed assets and amortisation  

  

 
Intangible assets represent amounts paid to acquire the rights to own and act as registrant for a 
portfolio of domain names. 
 
Capitalised domain names have a finite useful life and are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses, if any. Domain names are amortised on an annual basis at the 
rate of 10% reducing balance.  
 
Domain names not held for resale are included in the balance sheet at amortised cost and classified 
as “Domain names” and amortised over their useful lives. Domain names held for resale are included 
in the balance sheet at the lower of cost and net realisable value and classified as stock held for sale, 
no amortisation being charged. If a decision is taken to sell a domain name previously included in 
intangible assets it is reclassified as stock at net book value prior to sale. 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition.  
 
Intangible fixed assets are stated at cost less amortisation.  Amortisation is provided at rates 
calculated to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their expected 
useful lives on the following bases: 
 
Know How - 10% reducing balance method 
Software Development - 33.3% straight line method 
 
Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually if facts and circumstances indicate that 
impairment may exist. In the event that the expected future economic benefits of the intangible assets 
are no longer probable or expected to be recovered, the capitalised amounts are written down to their 
recoverable amount through profit and loss. 
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 3.4 

               NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
             FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
Research and Development  

    

  

Research expenditure is written off in the year in which it is incurred. 
 
Development costs are capitalised within intangible assets to the extent they can be attributed to a 
specific product or project anticipated to deliver future economic benefits.  The intangible assets are 
then amortised over the anticipated life of the benefits arising from the completed product or project. 

 
 
 3.5 Operating leases 

 

  
Assets held under leases are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases 
are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.  Lease incentives 
received are recognised as part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. 

 
 
 3.6 Taxation 
 

 

 
Taxation for the year comprises of current and deferred tax. 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the reporting date in the country where the Company operates and 
generates income. 
 
Current tax payable is the expected amount of income taxes payable in respect of the taxable profit 
for the year and is measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences other than those that arise 
from goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the business combination costs or from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time 
of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and 
unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against 
which the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. 
The carrying amounts of deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax assets to be utilised. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on the tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same 
taxation authority. 
 
Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transactions either in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity and deferred tax arising from a business combination is 
included in the resulting goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s interest in the net fair value of the 
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the business combination costs. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 
 3.7 Foreign currencies 

 

  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at rates 
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate ruling on the date of the 
transaction. 
 
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
 

 
 3.8 Share based payments 
   
 

 

Employees (including Directors and senior executives) of the group receive remuneration in the form 
of share-based payment transactions, whereby these individuals render services as consideration for 
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”). These individuals are granted share option rights 
approved by the Board which can only be settled in shares of the respective companies that award 
the equity-settled transactions. Share options rights are also granted to these individuals by majority 
shareholders over their shares held. No cash settled awards have been made or are planned. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, 
over the period in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date 
on which the relevant individuals become fully entitled to the award (“vesting point”). The cumulative 
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until the vesting date 
reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the 
number of equity instruments and value that will ultimately vest. The statement of comprehensive 
income charge for the year represents the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the 
beginning and end of that period. 
 
The fair value of share-based remuneration is determined at the date of grant and recognised as an 
expense in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the vesting period, 
taking account of the estimated number of shares that will vest. The fair value is determined by use 
of Black Scholes model method. 
 

 
 3.9 Financial Instruments 

 

  
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statements of Financial Position when the 
Company has become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 
 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. The carrying value of the Company’s financial assets, primarily cash 
and bank balances, and liabilities, primarily the Company’s payables and other accrued expenses, 
approximate their fair values. 
 

 
i. Financial assets  

 
On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value through 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables financial 
assets, or available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 
• Trade and other receivables 

 
Trade and other receivables (including deposits and prepayments) that have fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as other receivables, deposits, and 
prepayments. Other receivables, deposits, and prepayments are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method, less any impairment loss. Interest income is recognised by applying the 
effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be 
immaterial. 
 
• Investments 

 
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for impairment. 
 

ii. Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to financial liabilities are 
reported in Statement of Comprehensive Income. Distributions to holders of financial liabilities are 
classified as equity and charged directly to equity. 
 

 
   
• Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities comprise long-term borrowings, short-term borrowings, trade and other 
payables and accruals, measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability 
and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees on points paid or received 
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or 
discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period 
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
• Equity instruments 
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity 
after deducting all its liabilities.  Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.  
 
   

3.10 Loans and borrowings  
 

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.  Gains and losses are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the 
effective interest rate method (EIR) amortisation process. 
 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and 
fees or costs that are integral part of the EIR.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 
3.11 Inventory 
 

Inventory consists of Domains which are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
 
Weighted average cost is used to determine the cost of ordinarily interchangeable items. 
 
 

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 
In the application of the Company’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors are required 
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not 
apparent from other sources.  The estimates and assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or 
in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the statement of financial position date that have a significant risk of causing a significant adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the Financial statements: 
 
• Share based payments 
 
The fair value of share-based remuneration is determined at the date of grant and recognised as an expense 
in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line basis over the vesting period, taking account of 
the estimated number of shares that will vest. The fair value is determined by use of Black-Scholes model 
method. 
 
• Recoverable value of investment in subsidiaries 
 
Judgement is required in the valuation of investment in subsidiaries.  Assumptions about the valuation 
depend on management judgement of whether the carrying value of the investment is recoverable. 
 
The investment in the subsidiaries has been assessed on the asset value basis at the subsidiary level to 
create further value in the short term.  Hence, an immediate recoverable investment value constitutes the 
book value of its intangible assets.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

5. TURNOVER 
 

Turnover is generated from the principal activities of the Company.  An analysis of turnover is given 
below by geographical areas: 
 
Reseller Domain Sales 

         2018         2017 
         £         £ 

United Kingdom 155,510 384,484 
North America 1,222,147 1,065,074 

Europe 348,457 521,949 

Rest of the World 613,358 1,841,981 
   

 2,339,472 3,813,488 
 
 
Corporate Sales 

           2018         2017 
           £         £ 

  United Kingdom 103,868 58,591 
  North America 90,677 2,714,496 
  Europe 251,241 691,253 
  Rest of the World 378,395 806,896 
     
   824,181 4,271,236 

 
Corporate sales including premium domain name sales by nature are subject to annual variation 
depending on customer demand.  
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

6. OPERATING PROFIT 
 

The operating profit is stated after charging: 
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 

  Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 60,793 67,512 
  Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 487,259 398,784 
  Operating leases – land & buildings 87,553 78,390 
  (Profit) / loss on foreign exchange (8,803) 117,359  

 
In 2018 audit fees of £12,500 (2017: £12,000) have been incurred by the ultimate parent company 
CentralNic Group PLC. 
 

7. STAFF COSTS 
 

Staff costs, including bonuses and consultants but excluding directors' remuneration, were as follows: 
 

           2018         2017 
           £’000         £’000 
  Wages and salaries 1,698 1,574 
  Social security costs 200 171 
  Pension costs               52 43 
   1,950 1,788 

 
The average monthly number of employees, excluding the directors during the year was as follows: 
 

           2018         2017 
   No. No. 

  Management and finance 6 4 

  Technical 10 9 

  Sales and Marketing 6 7 

  Administrative 3 2 
  Operations 1 1 

     

   26 23 

 
No directors’ remuneration has been recognised in CentralNic Ltd as the directors have been remunerated 
by the ultimate parent company CentralNic Group PLC. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 

8. NET INTEREST INCOME 
 
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  On bank loans and overdrafts 0 1 
  On loans to related parties (4,376) 17,359 
  On loans to group undertakings 353,407 100,482 
     
  Interest receivable and similar income 349,031 117,842 
     
  On bank loans and overdrafts (33) (1,735) 
     
  Interest payable and similar income (33) (1,735) 
     

9. TAXATION 
 

           2018 
 

        2017 
 

           £         £ 

     

  Corporation Tax   
  UK corporation tax charge on profit for the year - 683,553 
  Withholding tax charge on profit for the year           43,963  
  Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years           54,073 47,603 
     
  Deferred tax (see note 16)   
  Current year – tax asset           2,204 10,822 
  Current year – tax liability (16,135) (6,062) 
     
  Total current tax 84,105 735,916 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 
Factors affecting tax charge for the year 

 
The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2017 – 
19.25%). The differences are explained below: 

 

           2018         2017 

           £         £ 

  Profit/Loss on ordinary activities before tax  (3,306,624) 3,977,505 

  Profit/Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of 
corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2017 – 19.25%) (628,258) 765,670 

  Effects of:   
  - Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 10,381 36,777 
  - Utilisation of tax losses 479,699 (114,134) 
  - Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior years 54,073 47,603 
     
  Tax charge for the year 84,105 735,916 
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10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 
 

 Fixtures and 
Fittings 

Computer 
Equipment Total 

 £ £ £ 
Cost    

At 1 January 2018 35,585 495,619 531,204 

Additions - 86,481 86,481 

At 31 December 2018 35,585 582,100 617,685 

    

Depreciation    

At 1 January 2018 32,772 440,969 473,741 

Charge for the year 521 60,271 60,792 

At 31 December 2018 33,293 501,240 534,533 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2018 2,292 80,860 83,152 

At 31 December 2017 2,813 54,650 57,463 
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11. INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 
 

Know How Software Total 

 £ £ £ 
Cost    

At 1 January 2018 1,139,512 1,323,706 2,463,218 

Additions - 270,298 270,298 

Disposals - - - 

At 31 December 2018 1,139,512 1,594,004 2,733,516 

    

Amortisation    

At 1 January 2018 219,513 602,199 821,712 

Charge for the year 91,994 395,265 487,259 

Disposals -  - 

At 31 December 2018 311,507 997,464 1,308,971 

    

Net book value    

At 31 December 2018 828,005 596,540 1,424,545 

At 31 December 2017 919,999 721,507 1,641,506 
 

12. INVESTMENTS 
 

           £ 
  Cost  
  At 1 January 2018 1,345,182 
    
  Additions 10 
    
  Impairment of Investment in associate (997,364) 
    
  At 31 December 2018 347,828 
    
  Net Book Value  
  At 31 December 2018 347,828 

 
 
 

The carrying value of the investments as at 31 December 2018 relates to the subsidiaries as outlined 
below. During the year ended 31 December 2018, the entire carrying value of the investment in 
associate was impaired, as detailed above.
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12. INVESTMENTS (continued) 
 

The Company owns less than 20% of the following undertakings which are incorporated in the United 
Kingdom (UK): 

Name 

Place of 
incorporation/ 
establishment 

Principal 
activities 

Issued and paid-
up/ registered 
capital 

Effective 
interests  

     
Accent Media Ltd UK Domain registry 

operator 
Ordinary shares 10.4% 

 
The Company owns more than 50% of the following undertakings which are incorporated in the United 
Kingdom, USA, and Germany: 

Name 

Place of 
incorporation/ 
establishment Principal activities 

Issued and paid-
up/ registered 
capital 

Effective 
interest 

     
CentralNic USA Limited USA US sales office Ordinary stock 100% 
     
GB.com Limited England and 

Wales 
Dormant – holds 
domain name 

Ordinary shares 100% 

     
dnsXperts UG Germany Domain management 

software services 
Ordinary shares 100% 

     
Who Is Privacy Limited England and 

Wales 
Dormant Ordinary shares 100% 

 
 

Dot Fan Ltd England and 
Wales 

Dormant Ordinary shares 100% 
 

 
FANS TLD Limited England and 

Wales 
Dormant Ordinary shares 100% 

 
     
CNIC Services Private 
Limited 

India Domain management 
software services 

Ordinary shares 100% 
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13. DEBTORS 
  
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  Due within one year   
  Trade debtors 4,212,662 4,999,587 
  Other debtors 198,820 30,224 
  Amounts due from related parties 77,530 838,345 
  Amounts owed by group undertakings 14,264,825 7,509,341 
  Prepayments and accrued income 3,842,392 3,188,517 

   22,596,229 16,566,014 

 

14. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year 
 
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  Trade creditors 6,377,031 1,773,114 
  Other creditors 91,049 86,386 
  Amounts owed to group undertakings 3,863,890 2,988,347 
  Corporation tax payable - 540,371 
  Other taxation and social security 8,892 81,411 
  Payments on account 10,411,557 6,044,411 
  Accruals and deferred income 5,212,049 6,581,468 

   25,964,468 18,095,508 

15. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due after more than one year 
 

           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  Accruals and deferred income 1,193,922 280,307 

   1,193,922 280,307 
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16. DEFERRED TAXATION 
 
 Deferred Tax Asset 
           2018         2017  
           £         £  
  At beginning of year 40,417 29,595  
  Charge for year (P&L) 2,204 10,822  
      
  At end of year 42,621 40,417  
 

The deferred tax asset is made up as follows: 
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  Share based payments 42,621 40,417 
 
 Deferred Tax Liability 
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  At beginning of year 40,668 46,730 
  Charge for year (P&L) (16,135) (6,062) 
     
  At end of year 24,533 40,668 

 
The provision for deferred taxation is made up as follows: 

           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  Accelerated capital allowances 24,533 40,668 

17. SHARE CAPITAL 
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 
  Allotted, called up and fully paid   

  19,500 Ordinary ‘A’ shares of £1 each 19,500 19,500 
  30,500 Ordinary ‘B’ shares of £1 each 30,500 30,500 

   50,000 50,000 
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18. SHARE OPTIONS 
 
The share option scheme, which was adopted by the CentralNic Group during 2013, was established to 
reward and incentivise the executive management team and staff for delivering share price growth. 
 
There were no options granted during 2018 and 2017. Out of the 1,291,083 outstanding options at the end of 
the year (2017: 1,408,083), 1,213,083 options (2017: 836,083) were exercisable.  
 
No options were exercised in 2018 and 2017. 
 
The expected volatility was determined with reference to similar entities trading on AIM. Details of the share 
options outstanding at the year end are as follows: 
 
 Number 

2018 
WAEP* 

2018 
Number 

2017 
WAEP* 

2017 
Outstanding at 1 January 1,408,083 21p 1,408,083 21p 
Granted during year - - - - 
Exercised during year (98,000) 10p - - 
Lapsed during year (19,000) 33.5p -         - 
Outstanding at 31 December 1,291,083 21p 1,408,083        21p 
Exercisable at 31 December  1,213,083 20p 836,083 10p 
     

 
 

* weighted average exercise price. 
 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding at the statement of financial 
position date is 5.8 years. 
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19. ANALYSIS OF CHANGES IN NET FUNDS 
 
   1 January Cash flow 31 December 

   2018          2018  2018 
   £ £ £ 

  Cash at bank and in hand 5,031,391 (2,168,879) 2,862,512 
  Debt:    

  Debts due within one year (2,988,347) (875,543) (3,863,890) 
      
  Net funds 2,043,044 (3,044,422) (1,001,378) 

20. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 
 

At 31 December 2018 the Company had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as 
follows: 
 

   Land and buildings 
   2018 2017 
   £ £ 
  Expiry date:   
  Less than one year 63,660 15,915 
  Between one and five years - - 
     

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

As permitted by FRS102, the Company has not disclosed details of transactions with other group entities 
that are included in the group accounts prepared by the parent. Copies of the group financial statements 
are available to the public from the parent company’s head office at 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter 
Lane, London, EC2V 6BR. 

 

22. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY 
 

The immediate and ultimate controlling company is CentralNic Group PLC. 
 
 

23. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENT 
 

•  TTP Wholesale  
On 1 August 2019, the Company completed the acquisition of TPP Wholesale, a carve out of certain trade 
and assets from ARQ Group Limited (ASX: ARQ) (''ARQ''. TPP Wholesale is Australasia's leading domain 
name and hosting reseller platform business with around 14,000 reseller customers and 840,000 domains 
under management, including 19% of all.com.au registrations. The total cash consideration for the 
acquisition comprises an initial purchase price of $22m AUD less the Purchase Price Adjustment of $0.7m 
AUD which is an estimated Working Capital Adjustment restated at the completion date representing a 
total gross consideration/headline consideration of $24.0m AUD including taxes. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

INTRODUCTION

TLD Registrar Solutions Ltd is a provider of registrar services to the internet domain name industry, meaning 
that it is a retailer of the names used for website and email addresses.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2018 the Company continued to invest in identifying new clients who would be interested in using the flagship
store model when launching their gTLD resulting in an operating loss in the period. gTLD is known as Generic 
Top Level Domain, which is recognised by a suffix attached to a domain name.

TLD Registrar Solutions Ltd is part of CentralNic Group and is the only Company among its peers to offer 
comprehensive and quality services to all its defined customer. The Company has developed and operates a 
highly automated software platform. Our organic growth strategy includes continuing to win and retain new as 
well as existing customers respectively, but it also extends to introducing additional subscription services to 
those customers. 

The economic drivers of the business remain strong in 2018. The internet now has four billion active users, 
meaning at least two billion adults are yet to start using it. Whilst micro-businesses are catered to in some 
countries by platforms like Facebook, Amazon, WhatsApp and WeChat, small businesses and corporations 
continue to rely on domain names as the foundations for their websites, emails and online brand protection 
strategies. 

Key Performance Indicators 2018:

• Revenue: £138,710 (2017: £202,886).
• Loss after taxation: £232,492 (2017: £199,748).
• Cash Balance as at 31 December 2018: £211,822 (2017: £143,929).

The objective of the Company is to focus and maintain the revenue growth and healthy margins across the 
reseller business with the dedicated sales and operations teams internally.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The directors have considered the principle risks and uncertainties facing the Company, the main ones being 
outlined below.

• Regulatory

Registrar businesses are subject to the legal and contractual environment. These are subject to change, not 
least in the ICANN community, and changes have the potential to influence business outcomes. 

TLD Registrar Solutions Ltd satisfies ICANN technical and operational requirements, and maintains an active 
voice in the development of policy within the ICANN community.

• Market risk

There is a risk that the market for domains for which the Company provides registrar services may not be as 
large as expected or the new TLDs may not generate the revenue levels anticipated by the Board. In either case 
the Company’s revenues could reduce below expectations with an impact on profitability.
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The risk is mitigated to a degree by operating a broad portfolio of existing and new top level domains across 
multiple market segments. 
 

• IT security 
 

If the Company does not prevent security breaches or becomes susceptible to cyber-attacks, it may be exposed 
to lawsuits, lose customers, suffer harm to its reputation, and incur additional costs. Unauthorised access, 
computer viruses, accidents, employee error or malfeasance, intentional misconduct by computer “hackers”, 
and other disruptions can occur that could compromise the security of the Company’s infrastructure or 
confidential information.  
 
The Company has created a resilient network infrastructure with failover secondary systems to ensure critical 
functions are maintained. A number of the servers used by the Company are either rented, leased or provided 
virtually.  The Company intends to continue to seek to maintain close relationships with these suppliers which 
the Directors believe should reduce the risk of supplier loss however, any loss of one or more of the key suppliers 
could harm the Company’s reputation and financial position. 
 

• Foreign currency risk 
 
The Company reports its revenues and costs in British Pounds Sterling, whilst some of these revenues and 
costs may arise in currencies. Fluctuations in exchange rates may adversely affect the Company’s reported 
profits, and make its overseas contracts relatively less valuable. 
 
TLD Registrar Solutions Ltd contracts are usually denominated in British Pounds Sterling, US Dollars or Euros 
and the currency exposure is regularly kept under review by the Directors. The Directors will consider the use 
of hedging instruments should currency exposure be considered a material performance risk.  
 

• Credit risk 
 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting, arises mainly from intercompany, 
trade and other receivables. The directors manage the Company’s exposure to credit risk by the application of 
monitoring procedures on an ongoing basis. For other financial assets (including cash at bank balances), the 
directors minimise credit risk by dealing exclusively with high credit rating counterparties. 
 

• Liquidity risk  
 
There is a risk that the Company may not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due. 
 
The Company manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, optimising 
working capital and maintaining committed intercompany financing facilities.  

 
• Other risk factors 

 
In addition to the impact of the downturn of the world’s economies, the Company may be adversely affected by 
other changes in economic, political, judicial, administrative, taxation or other regulatory and other unforeseen 
matters. 
 
The Directors give due consideration to other risk factors as they arise. Particular attention is attributed to the 
United Kingdom invocation of Article 50 of the Treaty on European Union, commonly referred to as “Brexit”, as 
well as additional regulatory requirements impacting the business in the domain industry, by national or 
supranational lawmakers, or regulatory bodies such as ICANN or the London Stock Exchange.  
 
The Directors believe that Brexit carries limited risk to the day-to-day operations of the Company, as only a small 
fraction of the Company trade is to UK customers. 
 
 
FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS 
 
TLD Registrar Solutions Ltd intends to continue to invest in identifying new opportunities for developing flagship 
stores in partnership with new clients. 
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This report was approved by the board on 12th September 2019 and signed on its behalf. 
 
 

 
 
Ben Crawford 
Director 
 



TLD REGISTRAR SOLUTIONS LIMITED 

Page 4

DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic report, the Directors' report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). 

Under Company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that 
period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,

comparable and understandable information;
• state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures

disclosed and explained in the financial statements;
• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the

Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

This principal activity of the Company during the year was that of the provision of independent global domain 
name registrar services.

RESULTS

The loss for the year, after taxation, amounted to £232,492 (2017: £199,748 loss).

DIRECTORS

The directors who served during the year were:

Ben Crawford
Raedene McGary 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

GOING CONCERN

The financial statements for the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis. In making this 
assessment the directors have considered the following key assumptions and factors:

• The Company had net current assets of £3,234,035 at 31 December 2018 and the Company made a
loss for the financial year then ended of £232,492.

• The Company’s principal activity continues to be the provision of independent global domain name
registrar services.

• The directors evaluate that there will continue to be support across the group to which the Company is
part.

• The directors can take mitigating actions as necessary to manage the working capital requirements.
• Directors continue to anticipate and have a reasonable expectation that, based upon these key

assumptions and factors, the Company will continue to be cash generative and able to meet its working
capital requirements, debts and liabilities as and when they fall due.

After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources 
to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

In addition, the Directors have procedures to review the forecasts and budgets on a regular basis, which have 
been drawn up with appropriate regard for both the macroeconomic environment in which the Company operates 
and the particular circumstances influencing the Domain Name industry to ensure that the Company has 
sufficient resources in place to cover the existing and forthcoming expenditures.

The financial statements do not include any adjustments that may result from any significant changes in the 
assumptions used.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR

Each of the persons who are directors at the time when this Director’s report is approved has confirmed that:
• To the best of each Director’s knowledge and belief, there is no relevant audit information of which the

company's auditor is unaware; and
• Each director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of

any relevant audit information and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that information.

AUDITOR

The auditor, Crowe U.K. LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 12th September 2019 and signed on its behalf.

Ben Crawford
Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of TLD Registrar Solutions Limited

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of TLD Registrar Solutions Limited for the year ended 31 December 
2018 which comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, Statement of financial position, Statement of 
changes in equity, Statement of ash lows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.  

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102’ The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its loss
for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the U K , 
including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where: 

• The directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or

• The directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our uditor’s report thereon. Our
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. 
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We have nothing to report in this regard.

Opinion on other matter  prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of  audit

• the information given in the Directors' report for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

• the Directors' report ha been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Directors’ report .

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small

companies regime and take advantage of the small companies exemption in preparing the Directors
report and from the requirement to prepare a Strategic report.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement on page 4, the directors are responsible for 
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an Auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of 
our Auditor’s report.
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Use of  report

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Сompany's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an Auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Nigel Bostock (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of  
Crowe U.K. LLP

Statutory Auditor

St Bride s House
10 Salisbury Square 
London
EC4  8EH

12th September 2019
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017

Note £ £

TURNOVER 4 138,710 202,886

Cost of sales (134,762) (187,408)

GROSS PROFIT 3,948 15,478

Administrative expenses 7 (203,119) (126,963)

OPERATING LOSS 6 (199,171) (111,485)

Other Income 91,218

Interest payable 5 (124,539) (88,263)

(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION (232,492) (199,748)

Tax on (loss) on ordinary activities 8 - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (232,492) (199,748)

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 13 to 19 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017 
Note £ £ 

FIXED ASSETS 
Tangible assets 10 282 423 
Intangible assets 9 50,000 150,000 
Investments 11 5,895 5,895 

56,177 156,318 
CURRENT ASSETS 
Debtors 12 10,811,348 9,173,299 
Cash at bank 211,822 143,929 

11,023,170 9,317,228 

CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 13 (7,789,135) (6,064,343) 

NET CURRENT ASSETS / (LIABILITIES) 3,234,035 3,252,885 

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 3,290,212 3,409,203 

CREDITORS: amounts falling due after more than one 
year     14 (4,158,761) (4,045,260) 

NET LIABILITIES (868,549 ) (636,057) 

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
Called up share capital 15 1 1 
Retained earnings (868,550) (636,058) 

SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS (868,549) (636,057) 

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on
12th September 2019.

Ben Crawford
Director
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 
 

 Share capital Retained 
Earnings Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
    

Balance as at 31 December 2016 1 (436,310) (436,309) 

    
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (199,748) (199,748)  
    

Balance as at 31 December 2017 1 (636,058) (636,057) 

    
Total comprehensive loss for the year - (232,492) (232,492) 
    

Balance as at 31 December 2018 1 (868,550) (868,549) 

 
• Share capital represents the nominal value of the Company’s cumulative issued share capital.  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

  2018 2017 

  £ £ 
Cash Flow from operating activities  
Loss before taxation  (232,492) (199,748) 
Adjustment:    
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  141 322 
Amortisation of intangible assets  100,000 100,000 
Finance cost - net  124,539 88,263 
Decrease in trade and other receivables  (1,145,851) (116,022) 
Increase in trade and other payables and accruals  1,715,048 462,673 
  - - 
Cash flow from Operations   561,385 335,488 
Income tax paid  - - 
Net cash flow generated from operating activities   561,385 335,488 
    
Cash flow used in investing activities    
Disposal of property, plant and equipment  - 333 
Net cash flow used in investing activities  - 333 
    
Cash flow used in financing activities    
Proceeds from borrowings (net of repayments)  (368,953) (250,000) 
Interest paid  (124,539) (88,263) 
Net cash flow generated from financing activities      (493,492) (338,263) 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  67,893 (2,442) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  143,929 146,371 
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents  - - 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  211,822 143,929 
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1.   GENERAL INFORMATION 

 
• Nature of Operations 

 
TLD Registrar Solutions Limited (“the Company”) is a UK trading company which is engaged in the provision 
of global domain name registrar services. The Company is registered in England and Wales. Its registered 
office and principal place of business is 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, London, EC2V 6BR. 
 
TLD Registrar Solutions Limited is part of CentralNic Group which provides reseller, small business, and 
corporate and strategic consultancy for new Top Level Domains (TLDs), Country Code TLD’s (ccTLDs) and 
Second-Level Domains (SLDs) and it is the owner and registrant of a portfolio of domain names, which it 
uses as domain extensions and for resale on the domain name aftermarket. 

2.   BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 – The Financial Reporting Standard applicable 
in the UK and Republic of Ireland, and the Companies Act 2006. The principal accounting policies are 
described below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year. 
 
The financial statements for the Company have been prepared on a going concern basis.  In making this 
assessment the directors have considered the following key assumptions and factors: 
 
• The Company had net current assets of £3,234,035 at 31 December 2018 and the Company made 

a loss for the financial year then ended of £232,492. 
• The Company’s principal activity continues to be the provision of independent global domain name 

registrar services. 
• The Directors evaluate that there will continue to be support across the group to which the  

Company is part. 
• The Directors can take mitigating actions as necessary to manage the working capital requirements. 
• Directors continue to anticipate and have a reasonable expectation that, based upon these key 

assumptions and factors, the Company will continue to be cash generative and able to meet its 
working capital requirements, debts and liabilities as they fall due. 

 
After making enquiries, the directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to 
adopt the going concern basis in the preparing the financial statements.  
 
In addition, the Directors have procedures to review the forecasts and budgets on a regular basis, which 
have been drawn up with appropriate regard for both the macroeconomic environment in which the 
Company operates and the particular circumstances influencing the Domain Name industry to ensure that 
the Company has sufficient resources in place to cover the existing and forthcoming expenditures. 
 
 
The financial statements do not include any adjustments that may result from any significant changes in 
the assumptions used. 
 
 

As the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of CentralNic Group PLC, the Company has taken advantage 
of the exemption contained in FRS102 and has therefore not disclosed the following: 
 
• Related Party Transactions; and 
• Financial Instruments. 

 
The financial statements contain information about TLD Registrar Solutions Limited as an individual 
Company. TLD Registrar Solutions Limited has taken the option under Section 400 of the Companies Act 
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2006 not to prepare consolidated financial statements and the consolidated financial statements of 
CentralNic Group PLC, within which the Company is included, can be obtained from the registered office. 
 

3.   ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
 
The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2018. 
 
 
 3.1 Turnover 

  

 
Turnover comprises revenue recognised by the Company in respect of goods and services supplied 
during the year, exclusive of Value Added Tax and trade discounts. 

 
 
 3.2 Investments 

  

 
Investments held as fixed assets are stated at cost less provision for impairment. 
 

 3.3 Intangible assets 

  

 
Intangible assets are stated at cost less amortisation.  Amortisation is provided at rates calculated 
to write off the cost of fixed assets, less their estimated residual value, over their expected useful lives 
on the following basis: 
   
  Software Development   20% straight line method 

 
 
 3.4 Foreign currencies 

  

 
The Company’s functional and presentational currency is Pound Sterling. 
 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at rates 
of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into Sterling at the rate ruling on the date of the 
transaction. 
 
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
3.5 

 
Financial Instruments 

 

 Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position when the 
Company has become a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments. 
 
The Company’s financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. The carrying value of the Company’s financial assets, primarily cash 
and bank balances, and liabilities, primarily the Company’s payables and other accrued expenses, 
approximate their fair values. 
 

i. Financial assets  
 

On initial recognition, financial assets are classified as either financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables financial assets, or 
available-for-sale financial assets, as appropriate.  
 
• Trade and other receivables 
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Trade and other receivables (including deposits and prepayments) that have fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as other 
receivables, deposits, and prepayments. Other receivables, deposits, and prepayments are 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment loss. 
Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term 
receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial. 
 

ii. Financial liabilities 
 
Financial liabilities are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of 
the contractual arrangement. Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to financial 
liabilities are reported in profit or loss. Distributions to holders of financial liabilities are 
classified as equity and charged directly to equity. 

 
Financial liabilities comprise long-term borrowings, short-term borrowings, trade and other 
payables and accruals, measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
3.6 Borrowing costs 
 
Borrowing costs are interest and other costs that are incurred in connection with the borrowing of 
funds. They include interest expense on intercompany loans calculated using the effective interest 
method. 
 
 
 
3.7 Taxation 
 
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date in the country where the Company operates 
and generates income. 

   

4.   TURNOVER 
 

Turnover is generated from providing domain name registrar services. 
 
Due to the refund policy which has been amended on 1 November 2018, revenues from small business 
segments billed before the 1 November 2018 have been recognised over the course fixed term period of 
domain name sale, with the amounts relating to future periods being deferred into ‘Deferred revenues’. 

5.  INTEREST PAYABLE 

    
2018 

 
2017 

           £         £ 

  Interest on intercompany loans 124,539 88,263 
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6.   OPERATING LOSS 
 

The operating loss is stated after charging: 

    
2018 

 
2017 

           £         £ 

  Depreciation and amortisation 100,141 100,322 
  Loss on foreign exchange rates 18,466 13,737 
 

Audit fees of £2,000 (2017: £2,000) have been incurred by the ultimate parent company CentralNic Group 
PLC. 

7.   STAFF COSTS 
 

Staff costs, excluding directors' remuneration, were as follows: 
 

      2018    2017 

           £         £ 
  Wages and salaries 64,912 82,428 
  Social security costs 8,612 5,500 
  Pension costs 3,050 2,000 

 
The average monthly number of employees, including directors, during the year were as follows: 
 

      2018    2017 
  Operations 1 1 

  Directors 2 2 

 
No directors’ remuneration has been recognised in TLD Registrar Solutions Ltd, as the directors’ have 
been remunerated by the ultimate parent company CentralNic Group PLC. 
 
 
 

8.   TAXATION 

    
2018 

 
2017 

           £         £ 

  Analysis of tax charge in the year   

  Current tax    
  UK corporation tax charge on loss for the year - - 
     
  Tax on loss on ordinary activities - - 
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Factors affecting tax charge for the year  

 
The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2017: 
19.25%). The differences are explained below: 
 

   2018 2017 
           £         £ 

  Loss on ordinary activities before tax  (232,492) (199,748) 

  UK corporation tax @ 19% (2017: 19.25%).  
 (44,173) (38,451) 

  Effects of:   
  Expenses not deductible for tax purposes - 64 
  Non-trade loan relationships 92,008 - 
  Utilisation of tax losses (47,835) 38,387 
  Current tax charge for the year - - 

 

9.   INTANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 Software Total 

 £ £ 
Cost   

At 1 January 2018 500,000 500,000 

Additions - - 

Disposals - - 

At 31 December 2018 500,000 500,000 

Amortisation   

At 1 January 2018 350,000 350,000 

Charge for the year 100,000 100,000 

At 31 December 2018 450,000 450,000 

Net book value   

At 31 December 2018 50,000 50,000 

At 31 December 2017 150,000 150,000 
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10. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS 

 Computer 
equipment Total 

 £ £ 
Cost   

At 1 January 2018 1,561 1,561 

Disposals - - 

At 31 December 2018 1,561 1,561 

Depreciation    

At 1 January 2018 1,138 1,138 

Charge for the year 141 141 

At 31 December 2018             1,279 1,279 

Net book value   

At 31 December 2018 282 282 

At 31 December 2017 423 423 

11. INVESTMENTS 
 

        £ 
  Cost  
  At 1 January 2018 5,895 
  Additions - 
    
  At 31 December 2018 5,895 
    
  Net Book Value  
  At 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2018 5,895 

 
On 16 June 2014 the Company acquired the trade and assets of Internet.bs Corp, a private company 
incorporated in the Commonwealth and specialising in the retailing of internet domain names. TLD registrar 
Solutions Ltd is also 100% shareholder of two entities incorporated in the Commonwealth of the Bahamas where 
the trade and assets were transferred to on acquisition. 
 

Name 

Place of 
incorporation/ 
establishment 

Principal 
activities 

Issued and paid-
up/ registered 
capital 

Effective 
interest 

     
Internet Domain Service BS 
Corp 

Commonwealth 
of the Bahamas 

Domain name 
retailer 

Ordinary shares 100% 

     
Who Is Privacy Corp Commonwealth 

of the Bahamas 
Dormant Ordinary shares 100% 
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12. DEBTORS 
 
   2018 2017 
           £         £ 
  Trade debtors 1,960,149 17,530 
  Amounts owed by group undertakings 8,782,179 7,867,900 
  Supplier payments on accounts 1,574 93,077 
  Prepayments and accrued income 171 664 
  Other debtors 67,276 1,194,128 

   10,811,348 9,173,299 

13. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year 
 
   2018 2017 
           £         £ 
  Trade creditors 1,365,927 1,189,732 
  Amounts owed to group undertakings 6,291,633 4,752,039 
  Accruals and deferred income 131,575 122,572 
   7,789,135 6,064,343 

  

14. CREDITORS: Amounts falling due after more than one year 
   2018 2017 
           £         £ 
  Amounts owed to group undertakings 4,158,761 4,045,260 

   4,158,761 4,045,260 

15. SHARE CAPITAL 
   2018   2017 
           £       £ 
  Allotted, called up and fully paid   

  1 Ordinary shares of £1 each 1 1 
  

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

As permitted by FRS102, the Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 33.1A 
not to disclose details of transactions with fellow Group entities that are included in the Group accounts 
prepared by the parent. Copies of the Group financial statements are available to the public at the parent 
company’s head office at 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, London, EC2V 6BR. 

17. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY 
 

The immediate and ultimate controlling company is CentralNic Group PLC. 
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STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

INTRODUCTION

Hoxton Domains Limited (“the Company”) purchases and trades a portfolio of premium domain names.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company has not engaged in any trading activities for the last two years. However, in addition to the main 
domains .com and xyz, the Company managed to add inventory to its domain name during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2018 through the purchase of a mixture of TLD’s .

In 2018, the strategic focus shifted from premium domain sales to managing large domain portfolios for corporate 
customers. 

The Company has the strategy to attract commercially by selling on the annual event Namescon, with the 
purpose of reselling domain names to its customers, and as such the inventory balance is expected to reduce 
with future sales.

As a foundation technology of the internet, domain names are governed by global standards, meaning that in 
every region of the world, the domain industry uses similar technologies and exhibits the same fundamental 
business dynamics of recurring revenues with highly predictable renewal rates and high cash conversion. Hoxton 
being part of the CentralNic group, by combining a number of the most advanced technical platforms developed 
over the past 20 years in the US and Western Europe to become a ubiquitous tool for businesses. Our core 
strategy is to globalise these platforms, focusing on growth markets both through acquisition and organically by 
winning new customers and upselling additional technical services to our domain name customers.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The directors have considered the principle risks and uncertainties facing the Company, the main being 
outlined below:

• Market risk

There is a risk that the market for domains owned by the Company may not be as large as expected and in the
event of a decrease in the renewal rates of domains, the Company’s revenues could reduce below expectations 
with an impact on profitability.

The risk is mitigated to a degree by expanding the existing and new top level domains portfolio across multiple
potential market segments.

• Liquidity Risk

There is a risk that the Company may not be able to meet its financial obligations as and when they fall due.

As a result, the Company manages the risk by maintaining adequate resources, continuously monitoring it’s
forecast and actual cash flows.

• Foreign currency risk

The Company traded in US Dollars, Euros and GB Sterling Pounds, and considers the exposure to foreign 
currency risk to be acceptable. The currency risk is actively monitored through a periodic review of inflows 
and outflows by currency, including an assessment of the extent to which currencies are naturally hedged 
across the Group’s business lines. Where this is not the case, consideration is given to the use of hedging 
instruments.
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• IT security

If the Company does not prevent security breaches or becomes susceptible to cyber-attacks, it may be 
exposed to lawsuits, lose customers, suffer harm to its reputation, and incur additional costs. Unauthorised 
access, computer viruses, accidents, employee error or malfeasance, intentional misconduct by computer 
“hackers” and other disruptions can also occur that could compromise the security of the Company’s’ 
infrastructure or confidential information. Being part of CentralNic Group, Hoxton benefits from the security 
of the resilient network infrastructure and Domain Name System server constellation created by the Group,
with failover secondary systems to ensure critical registry functions are maintained. The Reseller segment
has been certified under ISO 27001/2013 for data security, thereby mitigating risk by adherence to 
international best practice.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

The directors don’t anticipate any material changes for the Company. 

This report was approved by the board on 12th September 2019 and signed on its behalf.

Ben Crawford
Director
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The directors present their report and the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic report, the Directors' report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the 
directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). 

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that 
year. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable,
comparable and understandable information;

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Company will continue in business.

• state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material
departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the year was that of trading a portfolio of premium domain names.

RESULTS

The loss for the year, after taxation, amounted to £5,253 (2017: £16,060 loss).

DIRECTORS

The directors who served during the year were:

Ben Crawford
Raedene McGary
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (continued)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

GOING CONCERN

The Company incurred a loss of £5,253 for the year ended 31 December 2018 and is in a net current assets 
position of £100,134 as at the date of this report.  The Company requires limited financing over the foreseeable 
future to cover its overheads expenditure mainly related to administrative expenses.

CentralNic Group PLC, the ultimate parent Company has undertaken the responsibility to provide the necessary 
financial support to the Company in order to enable the Company to continue as a going concern and a parent 
letter of support has also been provided to this effect. Furthermore, directors have procedures in place to review 
the forecasts and budgets on a regular basis to ensure the Company has sufficient resources to cover the
existing and forthcoming expenditures.

On the basis of these considerations the directors believe that Hoxton Domains Limited has adequate resources 
to continue its operational existence for the foreseeable future and that the going concern basis of preparation 
is appropriate.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITOR

Each of the persons who are directors at the time of approving the accounts is listed above.  Having made 
enquiries of fellow directors and of the auditors, each of the directors confirms that: 

• To the best of each director’s knowledge and belief, there is no relevant audit information of which the
Company's auditor is unaware, and

• Each director has taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a director in order to be aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is aware of that information.

AUDITOR

The auditor, Crowe U.K. LLP, will be proposed for reappointment in accordance with section 485 of the 
Companies Act 2006.

This report was approved by the board on 12th September 2019 and signed on its behalf.

Ben Crawford
Director
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Hoxton Domains Limited

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Hoxton Domains Limited for the year ended 31 December 2018
which comprise the Statement of comprehensive income, Statement of financial position, Statement of changes 
in equity, Statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice).

In our opinion, the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 and of its loss
for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is
not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may
cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting
for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the annual report, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the 
financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in 
our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion based on the work undertaken in the course of our audit

• the information given in the Directors' report for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

• the Directors' report ha been prepared in accordance with applicable legal
requirements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment obtained in the course of 
the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the Directors’ report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or returns adequate for our audit
have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
• certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• the directors were not entitled to prepare the financial statements in accordance with the small

companies regime and take advantage of the small companies exemption in preparing the directors
report and from the requirement to prepare a strategic report.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement on page , the Directors are responsible for
the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, 
or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an uditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
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A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the
Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of
our Auditor’s report.

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an uditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Nigel Bostock (Senior Statutory Auditor) 
For and on behalf of  
Crowe U.K. LLP

Statutory Auditor 

St Bride’s House 
10 Salisbury Square
London EC4  8EH

12th September 2019 
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STATEMEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

2018 2017

Note £ £

TURNOVER - -

Cost of sales - -

GROSS PROFIT/(LOSS) - -

Administrative expenses (3,120) (11,055)

OPERATING LOSS 5 (3,120) (11,055)

Interest payable 4 (2,133) (5,005)

LOSS ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATION (5,253) (16,060)

Tax on (loss)/profit on ordinary activities 6 - -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR (5,253) (16,060)

All amounts relate to continuing operations.

The notes on pages 12 to 15 form part of these financial statements.
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STATEMEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

  2018 2017 
  Note £ £ 

    
CURRENT ASSETS    
Inventory  108,199 106,177 
Debtors 7 8,808 2,201 
Cash at bank  - 111,183 
   117,007 219,561 
    
CREDITORS: amounts falling due within one year 8 (16,873) (114,174) 
      
NET CURRENT ASSETS  100,134 105,387 
    
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES  100,134 105,387 
    
    
NET ASSETS    100,134 105,387 

                             
CAPITAL AND RESERVES    
Called up share capital 9 1 1 
Retained earnings  100,133 105,386 
    
SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS   100,134 105,387 

 
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on 
12th September 2019. 
 
 

 
 
 
Ben Crawford 
Director 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

 Share capital Retained 
Earnings Total 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
    

Balance as at 31 December 2016 1 121,446 121,447 

Total comprehensive loss for the year - (16,060) (16,060) 
    
Balance as at 31 December 2017 1 105,386 105,387 
    
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (5,253) (5,253) 
    

Balance as at 31 December 2018 1 100,133 100,134 

 
• Share capital represents the nominal value of the Company’s cumulative issued share capital.  
• Retained earnings represent the cumulative value of the profits not distributed to shareholders, but 

retained to finance the future capital requirements of the Company.  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018 

 
 

  2018 2017 
             £           £ 
Cash Flow from operating activities    
Loss before taxation  (5,253) (16,059) 
Adjustments:    
Finance cost - net  2,133 5,005 
Increase in trade and other receivables  (6,607) (2,200) 
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables and 
accruals  (97,302) 11,793 
Increase in inventories  (2,022) (4,285) 
Cash flow from Operations   (109,051) (5,746) 
Income tax paid  - - 
Net cash flow generated from operating activities   (109,051) (5,746) 
    
Cash flow used in financing activities    
Interest paid  (2,133) (5,005) 
Net cash flow generated from financing activities  (2,133) (5,005) 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (111,184) (10,751) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  111,184 121,935 
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash equivalents  - - 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  - 111,184 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

• Nature of Operations 
 
Hoxton Domains Limited (“the Company”) is a UK Company which is engaged in trading of premium domain 
names. The Company is registered in England and Wales. Its registered office and principal place of business 
is 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, Cheapside, London, EC2V 6BR. 

The average monthly number of employees, including directors, during the year was 2 (2017:2). 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. The financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 – The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Republic of Ireland, and the Companies Act 2006. The principal accounting policies are described 
below. They have all been applied consistently throughout the year. 

As the Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of CentralNic Group PLC, the Company has taken advantage of 
the exemption contained in FRS102 and has therefore not disclosed the following: 

• Related Party Transactions; and 

• Financial Instruments. 

 
The consolidated financial statements of CentralNic Group PLC, within which this Company is included, can 
be obtained from the registered office. 
 
The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply in preparing the financial statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2018. 
 

3. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

• Going Concern 
 
The Company incurred a loss of £5,253 for the year ended 31 December 2018 and is in a net current assets 
position of £100,134 as at the date of this report.  The Company requires limited financing over the foreseeable 
future to cover its overheads expenditure mainly related to administrative expenses.   
 
CentralNic Group PLC, the ultimate parent Company has undertaken the responsibility to provide the necessary 
financial support to the Company in order to enable the Company to continue as a going concern and a parent 
letter of support has also been provided to this effect. Furthermore, directors have procedures in place to review 
the forecasts and budgets on a regular basis to ensure the Company has sufficient resources to cover the 
existing and forthcoming expenditures. 
 
On the basis of these considerations the directors believe that Hoxton Domains Limited has adequate resources 
to continue its operational existence for the foreseeable future and that the going concern basis of preparation 
is appropriate 
 
 

• Inventory 
 
Inventory consists of Premium Domains recognised at the weighted average cost, and subsequently at the 
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other 
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. 
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• Foreign currencies 
 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at rates of 
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling at the rate ruling on the date of the transaction. 
 
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

• Debtors 
 

Short term debtors are measured at transaction price, less any impairment. 
 
 

• Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without penalty on notice 
of not more than 24 hours. 
 

• Creditors 
 

Short and long term creditors are measured at the transaction price. 
 

• Current taxation 
 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the reporting date in the country where the Company operates and generates income. 
 

• Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources 
 
The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that effect the application of the accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities, revenue and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods 
affected. 
 
A key critical judgement is the recoverability of intercompany debtors.  At the year end the Company has an 
intercompany receivable amounting to £8,573.  This intercompany balance is classified as payable on demand 
as of 31 December 2018.  At the time of this report, the directors believe that the receivable is recoverable at 
the stated book value, hence no impairment is required. 
 

4. INTEREST PAYABLE 

 

   
2018 

 
2017 

          £          £  
 Interest on intercompany loans  2,133 5,005 
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5. OPERATING PROFIT 
 

The operating profit is stated after charging: 
 
           2018         2017 
           £         £ 

  Loss on foreign exchange rates (3,120) 11,030 
 

 
 

6. TAXATION 
 
   2018 2017 

           £ 
 

        £ 
 

     

  Corporation Tax   

  Current tax on profits for the year - - 

  Total current tax  - - 
 

 Factors affecting tax charge for the year 
 
The tax assessed for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2017 – 
19.25%). The differences are explained below: 
 

   2018 2017 
           £         £ 

  Loss on ordinary activities before tax  (5,253) (16,060) 

  UK corporation tax @ 19% (2017 – 19.25%) (998) (3,092) 

  
Effects of: 
 
Non-trade loan relationship credits  

 
 

             (40) 

 
 

- 

  Losses carried forward 1,038 3,092 

     

  Current tax charge for the year  - - 
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7. DEBTORS 
  
   2018 2017 
           £         £ 
  Prepaid registries - 2,200 
  Other debtors 235 - 
  Amounts owed by group undertakings 8,573 1 

   8,808 2,201 

8. CREDITORS:  Amounts due within one year 

 
 
   2018 2017 
           £         £ 
   Amounts owed to group undertakings    (16,873) (114,174) 

   (16,873) (114,174) 

 
 

9. SHARE CAPITAL 
 
   2018 2017 
           £         £ 
      Allotted, called up and fully paid   

      1 Ordinary shares of £1 each 1 1 
  
 

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption under paragraph 33.1A of FRS 102 not to disclose 
transactions with fellow Group entities that are included in the Group consolidated accounts prepared by 
the parent Company. Copies of the Group financial statements are available to the public from the parent 
company’s head office at 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, Cheapside, London, EC2V 6BR. 
 
 

11. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY 
 

The immediate and ultimate controlling company is CentralNic Group PLC. 
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Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

2017 Note 2018 

$ $ 

Revenue 

2 15 Other Income 

Expenses 

Finance costs 

Other expenses 

(2,115,674) (1,987,981) 

- (581) 

(2,115,674) (1,988,547) Profit (loss) before income tax benefit (expense) 

475,075 601,911 Income tax benefit 

Loss after income tax benefit (expense) for the year attributable to the owners 

9 (1,513,763) (1,513,472) of Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax 

Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to the owners of Instra 

Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd (1,513,763) (1,513,472) 

The above statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Statement of financial position 

As at 31 December 2018 

2018 2017 Note 

$ $ 

Assets 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Related party loans 

Total current assets 

3 122 122 

1,412,502 1,181,599 

1,412,624 1,181,721 

7 

Non-current assets 

Investments in subsidiary - at cost 

Total non-current assets 
30,848,246 30,848,246 

30,848,246 ~ 30,848.246 

4 

32,260,870 32,029,967 Total assets 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities 

Other payables 

Income tax payable 

Total current liabilities 

5 96,966 

233,196 

90,734 

424,839 

515,573 

6 

330,162 

Non-current liabilities 

Related party loans 

Total non-current liabilities 
29,657,212 27,727,135 

29:657,212 27,727,135 

7 

Total liabilities 29,987,374 28,242,708 

Net assets 2,273,496 3,787,259 

Equity 

Issued capital 

Retained losses 
6,551,818 6,551,818 

(4,278,322) (2,764,559) 

8 

9 

2,273,496 3,787,259 Total equity 

The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
4 



Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Statement of changes in equity 

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

Issued 

capital 

Retained 

losses Total equity 

$ $ $ 

6,551,818 (1,251,087) 5,300,731 Balance at 1 January 2017 

(1,513,472) (1,513,472) Loss after income tax benefit (expense) for the year 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 

(1,513,472) (1,513,472) Total comprehensive loss for the year 

6,551,818 (2,764,559) 3,787,259 Balance at 31 December 2017 

Issued 

capital 

Retained 

losses Total equity 

$ $ $ 

6,551,818 (2,764,559) 3,787,259 Balance at 1 January 2018 

(1,513,763) (1,513,763) Loss after income tax benefit (expense) for the year 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 

(1,513,763) (1,513,763) Total comprehensive loss for the year 

6,551,818 (4,278,322) 2,273,496 Balance at 31 December 2018 

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 



Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Statement of cash flows 

For the year ended 31 December 2018 

Note 2018 2017 

$ $ 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Other revenue 

Payments to others 

Interest received 

15 

(581) 

612 

Net cash used in operating activities 15 46 

Cash flows from investing activities 

Net cash from investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 

Proceeds from related party loans 

Net cash from financing activities 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 

46 

122 76 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 3 122 122 

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
6 



Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Notes to the financial statements 

31 December 2018 

Note 1. Significant accounting policies 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies 

have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Basis of preparation 

In the directors' opinion, the company is not a reporting entity because there are no users dependent on general purpose 

financial statements. 

These are special purpose financial statements prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described under Note 

1. The directors have determined that the accounting policies adopted are appropriate to meet the needs of the owners of 

Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd. 

Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention. 

Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 

management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company's accounting policies. 

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the company and the revenue can be 

reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. 

Other revenue 
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

Income tax 

The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 

applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 

temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 

Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd (the 'head entity') and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax 

consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The head entity and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group 

continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax consolidated group has applied the 'separate 

taxpayer within group' approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax 

consolidated group. 

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets) 

and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each subsidiary in the tax 

consolidated group. 

Current and non-current classification 

Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 

An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the 

company's normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 

months after the reporting period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used 

to settle a liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is classified as current when: it is either expected to be settled in the company's normal operating cycle; it is held 

primarily for the purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no 

unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities 

are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 

7 



Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Notes to the financial statements 

31 December 2018 

Note 1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 

which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount 

exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 

present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 

cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 

form a cash-generating unit. 

Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the company prior to the end of the financial year 

and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and are not discounted. The 

amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

Issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 

from the proceeds. 

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 

recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as part 

of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 

recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 

activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority. 

Note 2. Revenue 

2018 2017 

$ $ 

Interest 15 

Note 3. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 

Cash at bank 122 122 



Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Notes to the financial statements 

31 December 2018 

Note 4. Non-current assets - investments In subsidiaries - at cost 

30,848,246 30,848,246 investments in Domain Directors Pty Ltd 

Note 5. Current liabilities - other payables 

90,734 96,966 Withholding tax payable 

Note 6. Current liabilities - Income tax 

233,196 424,839 Income tax payable 

Note 7. Related party loans 

Current: 

Loan - Domain Directors Pty Ltd 

Loan - CentralNic Ltd 

(1,413,585) 

1,083 

(1,182,636) 

1,037 

(1,412,502) (1,181,599) 

Non-Current: 

Loan - Domain Directors Pty Ltd 

Loan - CentralNic PLC 

3,139,549 2,912,711 

26,517,663 24,814,424 

29,657,212 27,727,135 

28,244,710 26,545,536 

Note 8. Equity - issued capital 

2018 2017 2018 

Shares 

2017 

$ $ Shares 

111 6,551,818 6,551,818 Ordinary shares - fully paid 111 

Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the company in 

proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the 

company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 

share shall have one vote. 

Note 9. Equity - retained losses 

2018 2017 

$ $ 

(2,764,559) (1,251,087) 

(1,513,763) (1,513,472) 

Retained loss at the beginning of the financial year 

Loss after income tax expense for the year 

(4,278,322) (2,764,559) Retained profits at the end of the financial year 



Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Notes to the financial statements 

31 December 2018 

Note 10. Equity - dividends 

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid, recommended or declared during the current or previous financial year. 

Note 11. Contingent liabilities 

The company had no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. 

Note 12. Commitments 

The company had no commitments for expenditure as at 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. 

Note 13. Parent entities 

The immediate parent entity and ultimate parent entity Is CentralNIc Group Pic (Incorporated in United Kingdom), which at 
31 December 2018 owned 100% (2017: 100%) of the issued share capital of the company. CentralNIc Group Pic is a 
company listed on the London stock exchange. 

Note 14. Events after the reporting period 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 31 December 2018 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect 
the company's operations, the results of those operations, or the company's state of affairs in future financial years. 

Note 15. Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash from operating activities 

2018 2017 

$ $ 

Loss after income tax expense for the year (1,513,763) (1,513,472) 

Change In operating assets and liabilities: 

lncrease/(decrease) in trade and other payables 
(lncrease)/decrease in related party loans receivable 

lncrease/(decrease) in related party loans payable 

lncrease/(decrease) in provision for income tax 

6,232 

(230,903) 

1,930,077 

^191,643) 

(69,186) 

(671,699) 

1,803,668 

450,735 

Net cash from operating activities 46 
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Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Directors' declaration 

31 December 2018 

As described in the basis of preparation accounting policy included in note 1 to the financial statements, the 

company is not a reporting entity and these are special purpose financial statements. 

The directors of the company declare that the financial statements and notes: 

a) comply with the accounting policies as detailed in note 1 to the financial statements; and 

b) give true and fair view of the company's financial position as at 30 June 2018 and its performance for the year 

ended on that date. 

In the directors' opinion: 

c) the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the company's constitution; and 

d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 

due and payable 

On behalf of the directors 

Name GALA Oft 

Director 

Date 12 September 2019 

Place I. o N 0 O  ̂
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Independent Auditor's Report to the Members 

of Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

Opinion 

We have audited the special purpose financial report (the financial report) of Instra Holdings (Aus) Pty Ltd 

(the Company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and the 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors' declaration. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2018 

is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting as described in Note 1 to 

the financial report. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We 

have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. 

Emphasis of Matter - Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial 

report has been prepared by the Directors to meet the needs of the members. As a result, the financial 

report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the members and should 

not be distributed to parties other than the members and / or regulatory authorities as required. Our 

opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

The title 'Partner' conveys that the person is a senior member within their respective division, and is among the group of persons who hold an equity 
interest (shareholder) in its parent entity, Findex Group Limited. The only professional service offering which is conducted by a partnership is the 
Crowe Australasia external audit division. All other professional services offered by Findex Group Limited are conducted by a privately owned 
organiSBtion and/or its subsidiaries. 

Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd, trading as Crowe Australasia is a member of Crowe Global, a Swiss verein. Each member firm of Crowe Global is a separate 
and independent legal entity. Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd and its affiliates are not responsible or liable for any acts or omissions of Crowe Global or any other 
member of Crowe Global. Crowe Global does not render any professional services and does not have an ownership or partnership interest in Findex 
(Aust) Pty Ltd. Services are provided by Crowe Audit Australia, an affiliate of Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd. Liability limited by a scheme approved under 
Professional Standards Legislation. Liability limited other than for acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 
© 2019 Findex (Aust) Pty Ltd 



Crowe 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report and have 

determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to meet 

the needs of the members and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 

the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes 

our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 

individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 

of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 

as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 

of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting 

and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 

events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a 

going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 

to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company 

to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in 

a manner that achieves fair presentation. 



Crowe 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during the audit. 

flunhrcM-Oy 

CROWE AUDIT AUSTRALIA 

tAA 
'\ 

David Munday 

Partner 

Dated at Melbourne Victoria this 12th day of September 2019 




